THE KRAJINA PROJECT: Exploring the Ottoman-Habsburg Borderland
By R J Carlton and A Rushworth

Introduction

Between the sixteenth and nineteenth centuries, much of Croatia and northern Bosnia formed a contested
frontier region or 'krajina', where three great powers — Habsburg Austria, maritime Venice and the
Ottoman Empire — all collided. By the end of the period the Vojna Krajina, or 'Military Frontier', was a
tightly defined zone of the Habsburg Empire stretching from Dalmatia to Transylvania, where military
settlers with special privileges and restrictions were fostered to provide a defensive buffer against the
threat of Ottoman incursion. Earlier arrangements were less formal but both the Ottoman and Habsburg
states made extensive use of local militia forces variously labelled Hajduks, Vojnuks, Martelosi or
Grenzer, and the label ‘Krajina’ is thus applied to districts on both sides of the eighteenth- and nineteenth-
century Ottoman-Habsburg frontier, which now forms the border between Bosnia and Croatia. Perhaps
the best known of these groups, following the work of Wendy Bracewell', are the piratical Uskoks of
Senj, on the northern Adriatic coast. The frontier system was finally, formally disbanded in the later-
nineteenth century, leaving a militarised, marginalised society with traditions and complex identities
which may have contributed significantly to recent conflicts.

The paper will summarise the results of the Krajina Project, which was established in 1998 to investigate
the archaeological remains, material culture and continuing ethnographic legacy of this distinctive late
medieval/early modern frontier society.” The fieldwork has encompassed several different strands,
including the survey and excavation of known fortified centres, the recording of traditional building types
and ethnographic study of craft practices. The work involved collaboration between staff of the
Archaeological Practice, the University of Newcastle upon Tyne, English Heritage and the Zemaljski
Muzej, Sarajevo. Many of the results and conclusions presented here are necessarily preliminary and
tentative, designed to suggest avenues of enquiry and raise questions for debate, rather than present
definitive answers to historical problems.

The project has focussed on an area in the north-west corner of Bosnia-Herzegovina, between Kladusa and
Biha¢, known as the Bihacka Krajina. This was one of the last districts in the region to be conquered by
the Ottoman state, not falling to the sultan's forces until the late sixteenth century — a territorial high water
mark. Thereafter it remained under Ottoman control until 1878 when Bosnia was occupied by Austria-
Hungary, which finally annexed Bosnia in 1908. Prior to the Ottoman conquest, the area had been
incorporated in the frontier defences organised by the Habsburg authorities from the 1520s onwards,’ and
only a few kilometres to the north and west, in present day Croatia, lie territories which were reabsorbed
into the Habsburg empire in 1699 and then subjected to the formalised military administration of the
Vojna Krajina or ‘Military Frontier’, which remained in place until 1881.* As a result of these repeated
fluctuations in the border between the two powers, the Bihacka Krajina and adjacent districts of Croatia
provide an opportunity to study the reaction of settlement and society to a variety of political and military
frameworks during the history of the frontier (see Figure 1).

! Wendy Bracewell, The Uskoks of Senj: Piracy, Banditry and Holy War in the Sixteenth-Century Adriatic (Ithaca and London:
Cornell University Press, 1992).

% Richard Carlton and Alan Rushworth, 1999, The Croatian and Bosnian Vojna Krajina (Military Frontier), Universities of
Durham and Newcastle archaeological reports, vol. 22 (for 1998). Durham

3 Gunther E. Rothenburg, The Austrian Military Border in Croatia, 1522-1747 (Urbana, Illinois: The University of Illinois Press,
1960).

* Gunther E. Rothenburg, The Military Border in Croatia 1740-1881: A Study of an Imperial Institution (Chicago & London: The
University of Chicago Press, 1966).



LY

—OPZ

Ljubl; ana_~>

Zagreb }
2 /

/ CROATIA

R ITicste

Karlqvac Os1jek”

Sl. Brod

{Banja Luka

Tuzla

o

BOSNIA AND
HERZEZGOVINA

ﬂSaraj evo

Korenica

T m—— ‘I
’ * v, Kladuza %
: * 9 : N,
Cetingrad _ | Podzvizd s
® 9G M
\ Silkovaia i
J. M. Kladusa [
v \
/ .Tu:- dorovo Busiria, ‘
e
PECIGRAD

Border between the Ottoman and Habsburg Empires 1552-1592
= Border between the Ottoman and Habsburg Empires 1592-1699

Border between Ottoman and Habsburg/Venetian Empires 1739-1878




Castles and fortifications

The archaeological component of the project has concentrated on fortification sites as the most tangible
surviving remains of the Ottoman frontier. A hierarchy of fortification types can be documented. Large
modernised fortresses, furnished with angle bastions and substantial garrisons of regular troops, were
relatively rare because they were so expensive to construct and man. Such treatment was reserved for the
the principal frontier headquarters and logistical bases, such as Karlovac or Slavonski Brod, or the
partially modernised Biha¢ (Ottoman: Bihke), held by the Ottoman Empire after 1592. Much more
common were medieval castles, most of which continued in use in the early modern period. Lower down
the scale were simple timber forts or blockhouses known as Palanka — inevitably much harder to detect in
the archaeological record — and individual towers, or kula, some of medieval origin, like Radetina Kula,
others of more recent timber construction, like the small wooden turrets built by the Habsburgs as part of a
cordon sanitaire to prevent the spread of cholera from the Ottoman empire.

The most visible of these fortification types in the Bihac¢ka Krajina are the medieval castles. The detailed
recording and investigation of two of these, Pec¢igrad and Stijena, was undertaken as case studies in 2001
and 2002. The fieldwork involved topographic survey, photographic recording and evaluation trenching.
The results of the work at Peéigrad are summarised below together with parallels provided by Stijena and
rapid examination of a number of other sites.

Pec¢igrad Castle occupies a central, strategic location within the Bihacka Krajina at the head of the
Kladuska valley, with commanding outlooks to the north and east especially. To the south the modern
route towards Cazin and Biha¢ climbs to the summit of the watershed at the Skokovi Pass. The castle is
first documented in the fourteenth century when it formed part of the demesne of the lordship of Kladusa,’
hence its name in 1334, Kladuska Pe¢. Subsequently it passed through the hands of various members of
the Croatian lesser nobility until 1577, when its garrison of 16 infantrymen (haramija) was overcome by
Ottoman assault.’ The status of Peéigrad over the next half century is unclear, but it seems to have been
fully occupied by Ottoman troops during an interval in hostilities, the karlovacki mir, in 1635. This date is
also given by Beéirbegovi¢’ for the construction of its mosque.

Published photographs,® oral testimony and the surviving remains of houses suggest that the interior of the
castle was more densely occupied at the beginning of the twentieth century than it is today, justifying its
local designation of ‘starigrad’ (‘old town’). Shops and houses were arranged along two main streets on
either side of the mosque. The settlement supported a weekly market and there was even a small museum
for a time, up to around 1920. The castle suffered some damage during the Second World War, but far
more severe destruction occurred in the immediate aftermath when extensive demolition of the
ideologically unfashionable monument was instigated under the new communist regime and its looted
stones used to build ‘houses of culture’ and schools locally. This robbing was halted after ¢.1947 when
responsible governmental authorities became established and were able to intervene. More recently, the
strategic location of the castle was underlined when it was used as a strongpoint during the Bosnia War
(1992-5) by both the Bosnian Government's forces based at Biha¢ and the troops of the breakaway,
Autonomous Province of Western Bosnia, led by Fikret Abdi¢ and based in Velika Kladusa.’

The survey plan shows the main elements of the site. The castle occupies a hill-top location bordered to
the east by a precipitous, vertical cliff which forms its eastern defences and partly determines the crescent

> The history of Pecigrad castle is summarised by Ciro Truhelka, Nasi Gradovi. Opis Najljepsih Sredovjecnih Gradova Bosne i
Hercegovine (Sarajevo: 1904), 55-8.

% Ibid, 57; Milan Kruhek, Krajiske Utvrde i Obrana Hrvatskog Krajevstva Tijekom 16. Stolje¢a (Zagreb: Institut za Suvremenu
Povijest — Biblioteka Hrvatska Povjesnica, 1995), 268.

" Madzida Beéirbegovi¢, Dzamije sa Drevenom Munarom u Bosnii I Hercegovini (Sarajevo: Veselin Maslesa, 1990), 130.

8 Truhelka, Nasi Gradovi, 56-7.

° Brendan O' Shea, Crisis at Bihac: Bosnia's Bloody Battlefield (Phoenix Mill, Stroud: Sutton Publishing, 1998), 27, 73, 85-6.
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moon-shaped plan of the inner bailey (Figure 2). Only a short stretch of a second, outer line of defences
could be traced in 2001. The walls of the inner bailey are constructed with a rubble and mortar core, faced
by small, neatly-coursed dressed stones. Although extensively robbed, the walls survive reasonably well,
particularly in the southern part of the structure, where they remain at their original height complete with
facing stones on both internal and external faces. Four polygonal towers also survive, the south-east
example being the best preserved, retaining a domed roof over the internal space, albeit with a hole
resulting from shelling in World War II. The main gateway is situated on the west side of the circuit and
is a relatively simple affair, the entrance being arranged at right angles to the line of the curtain and well-
protected by one of the projecting towers positioned immediately to the south. Much better preserved is
the postern located next to the south-east angle tower.

The only visible remains of the outer defences are a single dome-vaulted tower and adjoining 15 metre
length of curtain wall. The outer tower is almost circular and displays a very different style of
construction to that of the inner bailey, the facing made up of undressed rubble with much use of mortar to
achieve a relatively smooth finish. No trace of any curtain walling linking the inner and outer defences
was noted, but it is likely that the precipitous natural defences rendered this unnecessary.

Within the inner enceinte there are number of more recent buildings, most notably the late seventeenth-
century mosque situated in the centre of the castle on the summit of the hill. Since the project's first visit in
1998 this building has received a new vestibule on the north side, but retains the traditional form adopted
by all but the largest of Bosnian mosques, with a pyramidical roof and single minaret. An ornate carved
door, mentioned by Beéirbegovié,'” no longer survives. Four houses inside the castle are still inhabited
and a further one, the least modified, stands unoccupied but still intact immediately north-west of the
mosque. The remains of several other houses and house platforms can be seen in various states of decay.
One house and several outbuildings were destroyed by rocket-propelled grenade fire during the most
recent war.

The contrasting masonry styles of the inner and outer defences suggest that Peéigrad castle was built in
two separate phases. The rough, heavily-mortared rubble construction of the surviving tower on the outer
defences is typical of medieval fortications in the Bihacka Krajina and neighbouring districts of Croatia,
being encountered at Trzac, Todorovo, Stijena, Velika KladuSa and Slunj, for example. By contrast the
small, neatly-coursed, dressed stonework employed on the inner enceinte is much less common in the
region, but is paralleled at Stijena, and at Cetingrad, 17km to the north west in Croatia. Cetingrad was an
important feudal stronghold of the medieval Hungarian-Croatian kingdom and later formed part of the
frontier fortifications of the Ottoman Empire; whatever the precise date of the construction phases of
Pecigrad, they must fit within the same context.

No evidence of Ottoman defensive refurbishment — such as provision of gun loops or outer bastions — was
noted, although the removal of large quantities of facing stone in or around 1947 will have removed much
evidence for small scale repairs and refacing. Furthermore the possibility cannot be excluded that gun
loops were incorporated in stretches of the outer curtain which have now disappeared or were positioned
in the towers of the inner circuit at higher levels than now survive. Nevertheless the principal structural
legacy of the Ottoman period is clearly represented by the mosque established in the centre of the castle.

An evaluation trench was also excavated in the interior behind the south-west curtain to gain an
unerstanding of the depth and character of deposits. This revealed late nineteenth/early twentieth-century
cobbled roadway and structures overlying a series of deposits dumped down the slope towards the base of
the curtain. A post hole was uncovered at the bottom of this sequence, suggesting that more extensive
excavation might yield significant information regarding castle’s internal structures. Finds included large

10 Begirbegovié, Dzamije sa Drevenom Munarom, 170; plates 131, 191 & 192
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quantities of pottery and clay pipe bowls, and flintlock pistol mechanisms — the latter an apt testament to
frontier life. It is hoped that further work on the pottery derived from this and future excavations will help
to elucidate patterns of contact and trade within the frontier province of the Ottoman Empire and across its
borders at various phases in the lifetime of the active military frontier. The clay pipe bowls perhaps offer
the best chance for close dating entire assemblages, but much work remains to be done on sourcing and
dating these artifacts.

At Stijena there is more evidence of Ottoman alterations. The gateway bears an inscription of 1771'" and
has evidently been inserted or refashioned contemporary with the inscription. Again there is a mosque in
the interior. There is also evidence of early modern defensive modifications — two of the towers have
been clad in an additional thick masonry skin and instead of crenelations the parapet incorporates a row of
loops for muskets or crossbows. These may represent a response to increasing Ottoman threat in the late
fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, rather than Ottoman work.

Thus, both at Pecigrad and Stijena, medieval castles were adapted as centres of local Ottoman power, with
mosques built inside their circuits.

Two questions are worthy of further comment. Firstly, the presence of mosques within both castles is no
simple coincidence. It is paralleled, elsewhere in the Bihacka Krajina, such as Brekovica, Podzvizd,
Todorovo, etc., and at Trzac, one stands immediately beside the castle. Was the siting of mosques in such
prominent defensible locations a deliberate policy on the part of the Ottoman authorities to impose the
symbols of Muslim authority on the principal centres in each district, or a more gradual and ad hoc
response by local muslim communities? And if the former, were the mosques at Pecigrad, Stijena and
elsewhere built on the sites of earlier churches? A church, Sv. Kriza, is certainly recorded at Pecigrad in
the late medieval period.

The best evidence of such replacement and reuse in the region comes from Biha¢ where the former church
of Sv. Antuna was converted to become a mosque, the Dzamija Fethija, following the Ottoman conquest,
with the addition of a minaret and a mihrab carved in the south-east corner. A fine group of sixteenth-
century inscribed tombstones has been found during works at the entrance to the mosque, the originals
now preserved in the Zemaljski Museum with copies displayed in Biha¢ Museum. Ranging in date from
1520 to 1565 these provide an excellent cross-section through the elite of Biha¢ in the period before its
fall to the Ottoman Turks. The deceased individuals include the captain of the Biha¢ military district, Ivan
Iza&i¢ (1565), plus several noblemen, a judge and a knight.'

Secondly, it might seem strange that fortresses such as Stijena and Pec¢igrad remained in use well into the
age of gunpowder, despite relatively little defensive modernisation. However contemporary accounts of
sieges make it clear that, in the context of a strictly limited campaigning season and predominantly ‘low
intensity conflict’ (or mali rat”), such apparently antiquated defenses performed an important role,
providing protection from mounted raiding parties. On occasion they could prove formidable obstacles
when stoutly manned, slowing the enemy’s advance, buying valuable time for defending forces elsewhere.
Moreover even when their military utility had ceased such sites remained powerful symbols of local
power combining both secular and religious authority in the Ottoman period.

Ethnography

""" Mehmed Mujezinovié, Islamska Epigrafika Bosne I Hercegovine, Vol. 3 (Sarajevo: Veselin Maslesa, 1982): 78-9.

12 D7afer Mahmutovié, Stari Biha¢ (1260-1940) (Bihaé: 2001), 41, reproduces photographs of three examples.

' For mali rat see Sanja Lazanin, and Natasa Stefanec, “Habsburg military conscription and changing realities of the Triplex
Confinium (16th-18th centuries)”, in Constructing Border Societies on the Triplex Confinium, ed. Drago Roksandi¢ and Natasa
Stefanec (Budapest: Central European University, 2000), 98.






A full investigation of the ethnographic legacy of the frontier region, or even a small part of the region
would be a monumental task, albeit a worthwhile one, and certainly lies far beyond the scope of the
present project. Even works on the scale of Lockwood’s investigation of the Central Bosnian micro-region
of Potocari, or Bringa’s investigation of a mixed Bosnian Muslim and Catholic village near Kiseljak,
would demand at least a year’s continuous fieldwork. '* Such a study in the Biha¢ka Krajina region would
indeed be invaluable, since despite recent population movements it remains possible to study mocro-
regions containing the three main ethno-religious groupings of the area, Bosnian Muslim, Catholic and
Orthodox. Given the resources available to the project team, however, ethographic study has so far been
restricted to providing a general ethnographic overview of the area and focussing on discrete areas for
more detailed study.

It is important to stress that ethnographic fieldwork was carried out in tandem with the investigation and
recording of historic or archaeological remains, and that no clear distinction was made between what is
considered ethnographic and archaeological, present or past. Clearly, examples of excavated material
culture may be considered to have been derived from an archaeological approach, but in many cases the
materials derived from such investigations are items discarded within current lifetimes, or at least
recognisabe as tools used within current lifetimes: the distinction between past and present, then, is
blurred.

A brief overview of the ethnographic context of the area under consideration here is necessary before
particular aspects of its material culture are examined in more detail. The Biha¢ka Krajina lies at the
north-west tip of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and stretches from the southern environs of Biha¢ northwards
to the Croatian border at Velika Kladusa, a distance of some 50km. At its widest point, between Trzac and
Izaci¢ in the west and Otoka and Bosanska Krupa in the east, the district extends over 30km. In general
terms, notwithstanding various subtle intra-regional cultural distinctions, this area, unlike most other parts
of the former Ottoman frontier (or present Bosnian border) has an overwhelmingly Bosnian Muslim
population.”” The last census recorded the population of north-east Bosnia, including Biha¢, Cazin and
Kladusa, to be over 97% Muslim. It is thought that the region’s present Muslim population is derived
principally from the descendents of indigenous converts to Islam, mostly Catholics who converted
gradually in the later sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. The Muslim population, therefore, shares many
inherited cultural characteristics, not least a common language and dialect, with Catholics who remained
in the region following the Ottoman advance and with Orthodox Christians who followed in its wake.

The Muslim population of the Western Krajina, particularly the area between Kladu$a and Biha¢, forms a
discrete population group away from the main Muslim population group in Bosnia which, prior to 1992
extended eastwards from Sanski Most and Prijedor to Sarajevo and beyond to Novi Pazar. While certain
population groups within this wider Muslim population display cultural distinctions, none are separated to
the same degree as the Western Krajina from the main body of Muslim population. The geographical and
cultural separation of the western Krajina has fostered distinct cultural traditions and an attitude of
marginalisation. To what extent this contributed to the Pokrajna Zapadna Bosnia movement of the 1990s
is debatable, but the political and economic conditions that enabled the rise of Agro-Commerce, the

" William G. Lockwood, European Muslims: Economy and Ethnicity in Western Bosnia (New York, San Francisco and London:
Academic Press, 1975); Tone Bringa, Being Muslim in a Bosnian Way: Identity and Community in a Central Bosnian Village
(Princeton and London: Princeton University Press, 1995).

' The terminology adopted for the main ethno-religious groupings here follows the modern nationality and expressed religion of
the individuals/groups concerned. Thus Bosnians of Muslim faith are referred to as 'Bosnian Muslim'. The term 'Bosnjak’, which
some Bosnian Muslims (and Muslim Slavs from Sanjak of Novi Pazar) apply to themselves, is not used because it is a term which
could be, and once was used for Bosnians in general. Similarly, the terms ‘Croat’ and ‘Serb’ are not used here in place of
‘Bosnian Catholic’ and ‘Bosnian Orthodox’ because they are terms which have come into use only relatively recently and do not
allow us to draw a valid ethnic or ethnographic distinction between peoples of different religion sharing, amongst their various
attributes, aspects of the long heritage derived from common residency in Bosnia.



conglomerate commercial enterprise which sustained the movement, are in part attributable to its
geography and political culture. It is also of interest to note that the main towns of the region, Kladusa,
Cazin and Biha¢ maintain fairly discrete social and economic networks — it is rare, for example, for
marriages to occur between individuals from Biha¢ and Kladusa areas - thus reflecting in microcosm the
fragmented modern state of Bosnia-Herzegovina.

The Catholic population of the region has waned gradually in recent decades, but several discrete
population areas remain and indications of its former presence remain elsewhere. The principal and most
numerous Catholic presence in the region is focussed on a number of villages on the north and west sides
of Biha¢, namely Vrkasi¢, Kralje, Zegar and others. Other, smaller populations exist close to the Croatian
border, notably at Gornji Siljkovaca near Kladusa, and at Velika Kladusa itself where the Catholic church
is the only one between Biha¢ and the border at Maljevac, north of KladuSa. The latter populations,
always rather small, have shrunk since the 1992-5 war and Siljkovaéa now contains no more than 8
Catholic households. Unlike the Biha¢ population it is sustained partly by direct contact with Catholic
populations at Cetin on the Croatian side of the border, where its children go to primary school.'® All
Catholics in the main Biha¢ concentration and other, dispersed populations have joint Croatian and
Bosnian citizenship, and many look towards Croatia for employment. Other Catholic populations were
present until recently around Pecigrad, but probably disappeared from there during or soon after WW2,
while place-names such as Marjanovac, near Mala KladuSa, indicate that this place also originated as a
Christian settlement.

Orthodox Christian populations were non-existent in the region until the Ottoman conquest, and have
subsequently remained small, in stark contrast with most other parts of the former Habsburg-Ottoman and
(to a lesser extent) the Venetian-Ottoman borders where they have traditionally predominated. Small
Orthodox or Greek-Catholic populations existed until recently, however, in a rural area close to the border
at Gornji Siljkovac¢a, where they formed a mixed population with Catholics, but have not returned
following the 1992-5 war, although in most cases their houses remain intact and their owners visit
periodically. Other populations, probably originating during the period of industrialisation and
urbanisation in the former Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (1945-91) existed until recently in Velika
Kladusa and Bihaé. In the latter case discrete Orthodox-populated areas existed on the roads north and
south of the town, notably at and in the vicinity of Ripa¢. Most of this population has now deserted the
town, however, leaving only a few older returnees and a glut of cheap property.

Although Muslim and Christian populations of the Bihacka Krajina share many common traditions and
some, at least, have a common ancestry, there area also a numer of clear cultural distinctions which are of
potential archaeological interest, other than those directly associated with religion. Principal amongst
these are distinctions in vernacular building traditions.

Three types of vernacular building were selected for recording in 2001 and 2002 - rural houses, watermills
and the stele-like Muslim funery monuments (nisani) — with interesting results.

Rural Houses

Different rural house types are identifiable which may be correlated with the ‘ethnic’ or confessional
identity of the particular community, the distinction between square Muslim and oblong Christian
(Catholic, Orthodox or Greek-Catholic) house types being clearly drawn. Typical features of both include:
timber and wattle-and-daub construction; the accommodation of livestock downstairs, with family living
quarters located upstairs; the use of an outshot latrine at the rear, above the midden. Larger houses of both
Christian and Muslim type are built on stone bases up to first floor level, while older smaller houses are

16 Muslims living on the Croatian side of the border within the municipality of Cetin, of whom there are currently over 400,
travel to Kladusa in Bosnia for schooling, and are joined thee by Catholics from Bosnia for secondary schooling.
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entirely of wooden construction. The personal recollections of older inhabitants, backed-up by what is
known from historic descriptions and photographs suggests that the majority of dwellings in the past were
smaller than most of those constructed in the last phase of traditional construction up to ¢.1970. This
suggests that most were of the most simple kind, lacking a stone base. Such houses, indeed all houses of
timber-framed type, do not tend to last more than a generation or two, with only one or two in the region
recorded up to 100 years old and most falling into disrepair well before 50 years. The apparent relatively
ephemerality of housing extends also to its indefensibility and may, arguably have originated as one of
two possible responses to the ever-present threat of raiding and social upheaval.

Funerary stele

Distinctive Muslim funerary stele (nisani), incorporating elaborate decorative motifs, are commonly found
in cemeteries throughout the district. Examples have been examined at Pecigrad, TrZac, Stijena, Kajtezi
and Lucka, with the most detailed record of carved decoration being made at Luc¢ka. Female stele often
contain the symbol of plaited hair, while male stele are often topped by a turban — large turbans indicate
the deceased had undertaken the hadj pilgrimage. Perhaps most significant is the prominence on male
stele of muskets, scimitars and other antique (and not so antique) weaponry as decorative motifs. These
may imply that the warrior status associated with the bearing of arms was a crucial element of male
identity in the Biha¢ka Krajina during the eighteenth, nineteenth and even twentieth centuries perhaps
attests the persistence of a martial ideology long after the disbanding of the frontier institutions. The
practice of carving of such stele continues to this day. There are several family groups of stone carvers
still working in the region, at least two at Biha¢ and one in Cazin, with one group at Biha¢ being able to
trace its origins as a family business back to at least 1826. This opens up the potential, through the
recording of oral testimony, to understand the symbolism (and changes in symbolic preferences) of these
intriguing monuments in much greater detail.

Watermills

Several examples of watermills, used for grinding corn into flour, have been examined and recorded at
Peéigrad, Marjanovac, Vejnac, Trzac, Gornja Siljkovada and Otoka. All except the latter feature
horizontal wheels set individually or in rows in the water channel, linked directly by vertical drive shafts
to corresponding rows of millstones. The mills are of wooden construction, raised on stilts over the water
channel; and originally roofed with wooden shingles, or perhaps thatched, but now almost always using
iron sheeting. The present-day mills are owned by groups of individuals, or syndicates, and operated on a
time-share basis, with each individual alloted a certain length of time for grinding. The time permitted to
each individual is sometimes specified by date, but is more commonly a period of one or two days per
month to be used flexibly. There is obvious potential to map these syndicates, through interviews with
current users, to determine how they correlate with named communities, territorial districts or family
groups.

In recent decades, due to a combination of factors including the availability of cheap milled products and a
reliable source of electricity through a national grid, the use of watermills has reduced and, in some cases,
as at Marjanovac, restrictions on individual use have been dropped while others, as at Vejnac and Mala
Kladusa have fallen into disrepair. However, it is unlikely that mill sites, or the community organisations
supporting them will be formally abandoned while the memory of the 1992-5 war and its aftermath
remains fresh and economic conditions in the area continue to be relatively poor. The recent conflict led to
the renewed use of watermills; some, such as the family-run mill at éiljkovaéa, a Christian area on the
Croatian border, being equipped to generate household electricity.

Pottery Making
The ethnographic study of portable material culture and local traditional practices, such as pottery making,
has also contributed to the definition of cultural boundaries and interactions within the survey area.









Pottery has been studied particularly closely because it offers the best chance to develop a continuous
pattern of social and economic interaction through time, linking the present with the past through through
material culture. The detail provided in the following account reflects the potential of pottery to inform
upon historical patterns of social and economic interaction by combining information derived from
ethnography and archaeology.

Pottery-making traditions in the West Balkans have developed due to processes including invasion,
acculturation and apparently non-causal change into a proliferation of strategies fully reflecting the long
and complex history, not to mention present ethnic diversity of the region. The usual way of rationalising
this enormous variety is to select for purposes of classification a single, easily observable characteristic,
exemplified by Tomi¢’s division of pottery-making industries in Serbia (later applied to the entire area of
the former-Yugolsavia) according to their use of hand-wheel, foot-wheel or non-wheel technologies.'’

Pottery-making using the hand-wheel is practised mainly in central and western Bosnia-Herzegovina,
southern Croatia, and western Serbia. It is characterised by the use of a wheel rotating upon a fixed,
upwardly-pointed pivot and operated entirely, or almost entirely, by hand. Fabrics are usually coarse,
generally calcite-tempered, firing is usually by means of an open fire, sometimes in single- or double-
chambered kilns, and quenching is almost universally practised. Types of pottery produced vary from
place to place, but are mainly baking, cooking and storage wares rather than decorative or table-wares.
Other means of treating vessel surfaces are rare and decoration minimal, though glazing is occasionally
reported (notably at Kaluderovac). Almost all hand-wheel potters are peasants who depend partially upon
pottery for their livelihood, but regard themselves primarily as farmers.

The term ‘foot-wheel” normally refers to a wheel comprising an upper working platform and lower fly-
wheel which rotates within a fixed bearing below the fly-wheel. It is used, exclusively in some areas,
throughout northern Croatia, northern Bosnia, and in Slovenia except the Bela Krajina/Ribnica valley
areas.'® In Serbia, foot-wheel technology is usually associated with urban potters who, lacking
connections with the land, must derive all of their income from pottery. Migrations of one such group,
originating around Pirot in the Serbian-Bulgarian border area, have been reported by several observers.'’
Northern Bosnian towns were colonised for the first time by such potters in the early part of the 20™
century, while their maximum range was established in 1977 when they established themselves at
Vrginmost (now Gvozd) in central Croatia.”” Elsewhere, particularly in west Croatia and Slovenia,
pottery-making is predominantly rural and follows the potter-farmer model prevalent amongst hand-wheel
potters (see above). In the Ribnica valley of south Slovenia, a fixed-pivotted foot-wheel persisted until
recently which resembled in basic morphology a much enlarged hand-wheel, but operated as a foot-wheel.

In the western Balkans, foot-wheel technologies are always associated with the use of kilns, the great
majority of which are of the open or enclosed, double-chambered updraught variety. Single-chambered,
through-draught tunnels of brick and clay daub were in use up to 2001 at Rastoki, north-west of Karlovac,

on the edge of the ‘hand-wheel zone’,*" and kilns of similar design may also have been in use at Kompolje

17 Persida Tomié, 1983, Grncarstvo u Srbiji. Etnografski Muzej u Beograd.

18 For references to foot-wheel potting in northern Croatia see: Pinter 1935, Kagpar 1978 & 1979, Randi¢-Barlek 1982; in
northern Bosnia: Carlton 1999; in Slovenia: Karlov¢ek 1951.

1 L Kagpar, 1979, Piro¢anski Pecalbari u Vrginmostu; Godicnjak Hrvatskog Etnolockog Drustva, Etnoloska Tribuna 2, 89-91.
Tomi¢, Grucarstvo u Srbiji.

Richard Carlton, 1999, The Pirocanci pottery-making tradition in former Yugoslavia, The Studio Potter, Vol. 27, No.
2, 98-99.

2 1, Ka$par, Piro¢anski Pegalbari u Vrginmostu.

A Muraj, 1964, Loncarski centar u Rastokima kraj Karlovca; Zbornik Gradskog Muzeja u Karlovacu, 1,
126-41

D Cvetan, 1985, Tradicijski loncarski centri u plesivickom prigorju (katalog izlozbe).  Jastrebarsko.



in the Lika region. The use of double-chambered or through-draft kilns by foot-wheel potters carries a
number of implications including increased costs in time, materials and space, the ability to produce
harder, glazed products, and the potential problem of over-firing in association with certain coarse pastes
(se Carlton 2002).

The study of pottery as part of the Krajina Project has included three main approaches:

1. The investigation of the kinds of pottery used in the Krajina region
The investigation of sources of pottery

3. A focused pilot study into the purchase and use of pottery vessels in various parts of the survey
region

Local production centres

With regard to sources of pottery, two production centres are known to have operated in the Bihacka
Krajina, at Brezova Kosa/Skokovi, an area of scattered Muslim settlement south of Peligrad, and at
various Catholic villages on the north and west side of Biha¢, the populations of which constitute a large
part of the surviving, minority Catholic community in what is one of the most ethnically-homogenous
parts of Bosnia. At Vrkasi¢, some 3km north of Bihaé, the last surviving potter, Stjepan (Stipo) Jerkovic
(born 1934), was interviewed on 14 January 1998 in order to confirm and extend the record of Kalmeta.*

The process and organisation of production follows the pattern outlined above, but it is of interest that a
variety of fabrics were produced, using crushed calcite, sand, or a mixture of the two, depending on the
type of vessels to be made and the quality of vessels required. Firing was done in an open bonfire in the
yard or using a brick-built, single-chamber kiln, or pec, following which the pots were quenched in a
mixture of flour and water.” Products included open dishes (Prsula/tava used for cooking, zdijela for
food preparation and presentation), large storage vessels (cup), jar-shaped cooking pots (rukatka or
lonac), portable bread-ovens (peka), stove-tiles (petnjak) and other pots used in construction, such as
chimney flues (lula za dimnjak). Other forms, such as the spouted water storage and pouring vessels
locally known as fiskija or dugum ibrik, but more commonly throughout Muslim parts of Bosnia as
bardak, were known but not produced. Indeed, with the exception of fava, all of the names given above
are exclusive to the Catholic population in Bosnia and to parts of Croatia.

The pots were sold at weekly markets and seasonal fairs, or by peddling, as noted by Kalmeta.”* For
purposes of sale it was made known to prospective buyers that pots in up to three distinct fabrics were
available: calcite-tempered, mixed calcite and sand-tempered, which were priced accordingly - those
tempered entirely with calcite being the most expensive, due to their superior resilience when used in
association with heat. An alternative means of sale was to merchants who came by horse and cart to buy
directly from source and sold on by the merchants to the “Muslimani kraj Krajina’- the Muslim part of the
Krajina region; principally the Biha¢ka Krajina.*

D Cvetan, 1988, The living tradition of arts and crafts in the Jastrebarsko region; 12th International Conference of
Anthropological and Ethnological Sciences (International Union of Anthropological and Ethnological Sciences), Zagreb,
Yugoslavia, 24-31 July 1988, 25-32. Zavicajni Muzej Jastrebarsko.

22 A Kalmeta, 1954, O seljackom loncarstvo u srednjoj I zapadnoj Bosni; Glasnik Zemaljskog Muzeja u Sarajevu (Etnologija),
nova serija, 9, p.144-8.

2 This may have been done in order to make the fabric less porous, or for the blackening effect, but experimental evidence
suggests that the process compensates for partial over-firing.

2 Kalmeta, O seljackom loncarstvo u srednjoj I zapadnoj Bosni, 148.

%5 Small amounts of pottery from Lijesevo in Central Bosnia continue to be sold in the Krajina by this means — such traders were
observed near Ostrozac in Summer 2007.



The pottery-making locations of Brezova Kosa and Skokovi are conjoining settlements in an area of
relatively densely-populated undulating hills north of Cazin, where they population is entirely Bosnian
Muslim. Pottery-making was described at both Brezova Kosa and Skokovi by Popovi¢,”® at which time
both were still active, and one potter, Husejn Paji¢ was still occasionally active at Brezova Kosa up to
about 2000. Pottery-making there was similar in most respects to Vrkasi¢, although it appears only
crushed calcite was used as a tempering material. The forms of pottery made were largely similar to those
of Vrkasi¢ and other ‘hand-wheel’ potters in Bosnia and south Croatia, although the range produced, at
least latterly, appears to have been more restricted than elsewhere. The names given to the vessels tend to
be Bosnian Muslim equivalents of the ‘Catholic’ names given at Vrkasi¢, although most potters regardless
of ethnic or cultural affiliation are aware of the alternative names used (and asked for) by consumers
within their area of trade.

The only potter-making centre operating in the Croatian Vojna Krajina was Gornji Ladevac/Arapovac, 5
km south-east of Slunj in central Croatia, 9km from the Bosnian border. Pottery-making here was in all
respects similar to the tradition at Vrkasi¢ and Brezova Kosa but is poorly recorded, having ceased around
World War II. Nothing is known about the trade of pottery from this centre, but the relatively sparse local
population suggests that cross-border trade would have been necessary to support the industry there.

Non-local sources of pottery

The Bihacka Krajina lies at the centre of an exceptionally diverse range of pottery-making traditions, a
number of which are known to have been active in the area until well into the second half of the twentieth
century. Pottery-making traditions of similar character to those described at Vrkasi¢ and Brezova Kosa
operated elsewhere in Bosnia, most locally around Sanski Most, some 65km east of Bihaé. These and
other potters in Bosnia, however, seem to have had little impact on the Krajina; even the decorated fine-
wares originating from LijeSevo and Visnjica west of Sarajevo, otherwise widely traded throughout
Bosnia, do not seem to have reached the Krajina in significant quantities. Much of the non-local pottery
reaching the Krajina, certainly in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries, came in from Croatia.

Numerically the most important of the Croatian ‘hand-wheel’ centres, and the source which continued for
the longest period, was the Lika region south-west of Biha¢. Here were a number of pottery-making
centres in two main concentrations, one at Sinac, 9km south-east of Otocac, the other at and around
Kaluderovac, including the villages of Klanac, Otes, Gornji Kosinj and others some 10-15km north of
Gospi¢. Near the end of the nineteenth century some 193 potters were recorded in official statistics at
Kaluderovac, Gornji Kosinj and Klanac,?” but this is likely to have been something of an underestimate.
Gavazzi described the industry at Kaluderovac in his Kaluderovacki Loncari, and brief accounts also
occur in the works of Vojnovi¢, Ostrié¢ and Kaspar.”® It is similar in most respects to Vrkagié, including the
use of sand and calcite as an additive to clay, but it is perhaps significant to note that a wider range of pots
was produced there and there was limited use of lead glaze by some potters. It is known from various
accounts that potters from Kaluderovac and neighbouring villages travelled extensively to peddle their
pots along the Dalmation coast, northwards to Karlovac and the vicinity of Zagreb, eastwards into
Slavonia and northern Bosnia and extensivelly in north-west Bosnia — where the dense rural population
provided a source of high demand well into the modern period. When interviewed in 1994, the potter Grga
Zupan of Brezova Polje supported Gavazzi's claim that potters travelled beyond the Krajina as far as
Sarajevo in central Bosnia.

26 C Popovié, 1957, Lon&arstvo u Bosni I Hercegovini IT; Glasnik Zemaljskog Muzeja u Sarajevu (Etnologija), nova serija, 12,
p-32.

2T M. Zori&ié Ziteljstvo, n.d., Kraljevina Hrvatske i Slavonije po zvanju i zanimanju. Zg.Et.Muz. (from RAD Jugoslavenske
akademije znanosti i umjetnosti, Kniga CXXV. Filogijsko-historijski i filosofijsko-juridicki razredi, XLIV, 1896. Zagreb.

B M Gavazzi, 1978, Kaluderovacki Loncari, Licki Zbornik, 1, 25-34

O Ostri¢, 1979, Narodno loncarstvo (katalog izlozbe), Narodni Muzej Zadar, Etnografski odjel.

L Kaspar, 1985, Loncarstvo Karlovacke Okolice. Gradski Muzej, Karlovac.
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Other large concentrations of pottery-making villages using essentially the same, hand-wheel/open firing
tradition as Vrka$i¢ and Kaluderovac existed west of the Bihacka Krajina on the south-east side of the
Kupa river at Liplje and neighbouring villages, including Milani, Johi and Glavica north of Ogulin.
Pottery-making seems to have ceased in most of these villages by 1900, but continued at Liplje until 1947-
48; local information indicates that, until at least World War I, pots were traded into eastern Slavonia and
Bosnia. Thus, although there is no specific evidence that pots from here reached the Bihacka Krajia, there
is a strong possibility that they did. Other potential sources included Ostarije, 6 km south-east of Ogulin in
north-west Croatia, where pottery-making ceased in the early twentieth century, and the villages of
Veseli¢i and neighbouring Goli Vrh, 13 km south south-west of Metlika on the east bank of the Kupa
river, where Kaspar photographed at least four ex-potters in 1985.%

All of the above sources of pottery are known to have been active from at least the mid-nineteenth century
and it is likely that their present distribution extends back at least as far as the early eighteenth century,
when the borderline stabilised following the Habsburg conquest of Lika. Whatever their most recent
distribution, however, the regional presence of potters working in this tradition is much earlier.

In addition to the large number of potters operating out of the centres mentioned above, potters from
various ‘foot-wheel’ traditions also penetrated the Krajina for trade purposes. Such traditions are
characterised by their use of foot-powered wheels and double-chambered up-draught kilns, producing
sandy or fine fabrics which are often glazed, but while such pots are harder than the lower-fired products
of the hand-wheel/open-firing tradition, they tend to be less durable as cooking pots. Most centres of
‘foot-wheel” pottery-making lie outside the Krajina, and the scale of their involvement with the Bihacka
Krajina remains largely unknown prior to the twentieth century. Thus, it is unknown whether potters from
the Zagorje region of Croatia, from Dolenja Vas near Ribnica in Slovenia,”’ and at Rastoki near
Jastrebarsko traded into the Krajina, but it is highly likely that they did so, albeit perhaps intermittently.
Interestingly, however, information gained from Kompolje, the only centre of foot-wheel production
within the zone traditionally occupied exclusively by potters using hand-wheels and open (or single
chamber) kilns, suggests that while sale had been to Rijeka and Crikvenica on the coast and as far as
Josipdol, towards Karlovac, in the north, it did not extend to Bosnia.”! Archaeological evidence is
unbdoubtedly the key to determining the sources of such pottery traded into the region during theOttoman
period.

Undoubtedly the most significant of the foot-wheel potters in the post-WW?2 period were urban potters in
Bosnia, north Croatia working in the Pirot tradition of western Serbia.*”> Such potters spread from around
the town of Pirot in east Serbia from the end of the ninteenth century to towns throughout Serbia, Bosnia
and Croatia, eventually (as late as 1977) extending as far as Gvozd (formerly Vrginmost) in the Croatian
Krajina. It seems that such potters formerly existed in the majority of large Bosnian towns and many
smaller ones, including Brcko, Prijedor, Sarajevo, Zvornik, Gracanica and Doboj (the last two are still
active), and in Croatia they were present in many Slavonian towns, surviving into the present century only

» Kaspar, Loncarstvo Karlovacke Okolice, 16 and 18.

30 peddlers from Ribnica, mainly carrying wooden wares but also some pottery are known to have travelled in the later Middle
Ages and well into the modern period to Germany, Italy, Spain and even across the Mediterranean into Africa. A photograph of
one such peddlar in Germany is published by Mitija (1993). Trade into Bosnia, then, seems likely.

3! Kraljevine Hrvatske i Slavonija na Tisucgodisnja Zemaljskoj Izlozbi kraljevine Ugarske (Kingdom of Croatia and Slavonia on
the thousand-year nationhood exhibition of the kingdom of Hungary), Budapest and Zagreb 1896, catalogue no. 7407, the potter
Tomo Kranjcevic exhibited several pots - vrc (jug), padela (pouring dish for milk preparation), cup za mast (storage pot for fat),
tanjur (plate), lonac za mlijeko (milk pot), sdila, (bowl), plant pots and an ink pot.

32 Richard Carlton, 1999, The Pirocanci pottery-making tradition in former Yugoslavia, The Studio Potter, Vol. 27, No. 2, 98-
99.
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at Pleternica. All share essentially similar working practices, including foot- or electrically-powered
wheels and double-chambered kilns within developed workshop complexes, suggesting a greater tendancy
towards full-time professionalism than is exhibited by the traditional country potters of Bosnia and
Croatia, whose work was traditionally part-time and seasonal.

The assemblage of pots produced at Vrginmost in 1990 was typical in some respects of that produced by
Pirocanci elsewhere, but had been considerably modified by local demand, an observation also made
independently by Kaspar:

"They brought to our parts their characteristic shapes of pots and became a very strong
competition to native potters from Rastoki. There was a mutual taking over of various pottery

shapes from both sides"**.

This observation chimes with one of the main conclusions of a pilot study into the purchase and use of
pottery vessels in various parts of the survey region, revealing distinct variations in the names given to
functional types of vessels by consumers in different areas. Thus, as indicated in the case of Vrkasi¢
(above) potters (and other traders) in order to be successful need to be sensitive to the types of pottery
used by local consumer groups as well as the locally and ethnically-distinctive terminology used by them.
In the case of the Vrginmost potters, sales were carried out at widespread regional fairs in Bosnia, Croatia
and western Slovenia in the late Summer and early Autumn period, and some forethought would be
required in order to match local demands with products offered for sale.

Conclusions

The examination of pottery held by households in the region and found in abandoned houses recorded as
part of the vernacular buildings survey reveals a variety of pottery types corresponding to the known
range of potential sources on both sides of the present Bosnian-Croatian border. Similarly, the pottery
derived from archaeological excavations carried out at Pecigrad attests to the diversity of pottery traded in
the region during the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, with both hand-wheel and foot-wheel
traditions apparently represented by several different fabric groups, and ceramic smoking pipes adding to
the diversity of products and suggesting a potential avenue for more refined dating of such diverse
assemblages . Further work is required to elucidate the pattern of trade represented by these finds. Indeed,
archaeology provides the greatest potential to determine the sources of pottery at various phases of the
active military frontier and, by implication, to deduce wider patterns of contact and trade within the
frontier province of the Ottoman Empire and across its borders. It is hoped also that the extension of
research into the purchase and use of pottery vessels across the survey region will allow the marketing
trends of producers and consumers to be plotted spatially, thus compared with social groupings or
territories suggested from other sources.

The ethnographic evidence provides significant insights into the continuing legacy of the Ottoman-
Habsburg frontier in the nineteenth and twentieth centuries. The relative absence of craft manufacturing
traditions such as those found in Central Bosnia may reflect that insecurity of the Borderlands, as may the
portable nature of pottery technology and ephemeral nature of vernacular structures. While some
traditions, such as methods of farming, pottery-making and, to a large extent, speech are universal within
the region, others selectively signal cultural distinctions. Thus, differing cultural traditions affecting
matters as basic as the form of houses betray the existence of a fractured society, populated by different
ethnic or confessional groupings. The predominant cultural grouping in the Bihacka Krajina during recent
centuries has been Muslim. A continuing frontier mentality and warrior ethos on the part of the Muslim
adult male population can be glimpsed through the carved motifs which decorate the funerary stele erected
to commemorate individual members of that community. The challenge for any future programme of

33 Kaspar, Loncarstvo Karlovacke Okolice, 15
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research is both to amplify that picture of life in the recent past through further ethnographic study and, by
means of archaeological investigation and documentary survey, to chart the various historical processes
resulting from the region’s prolonged existence as a frontier zone of the Ottoman Empire, which led to the
creation of that ethnographically-documented society.

Dr Alan Rushworth (The Archaeological Practice, Newcastle upon Tyne)
and Richard Carlton  (The University of Newcastle upon Tyne and The Archaeological Practice,
Newcastle upon Tyne).
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Figure 1. Map showing the location of the Bihacka Krajina within Bosnia and Herzegovina, with
successive Ottoman Habsburg frontier lines marked.
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Figure 2. Plan of Pe¢igrad castle.

Figure 3. View of Pecigrad from the south-east showing castle and mosque within.
Figure 4. The gateway of Stijena castle surmounted by an inscription of 1185 H/AD 1771.
Figure 5. A house in the Catholic/Orthodox tradition at Siljkovaga (by Peter F. Ryder).

Figure 6. A typical house in the Muslim tradition of the Bihacka Krajina at Grabovac (by Peter F. Ryder)
with construction detail.

Figure 7. Carved motifs on niSani in the cemetery at Lucka near Pecigrad.

Figure 8. Cutaway reconstruction drawing of a typical watermill, based on an example at Gornji Silkovac
(by Peter F. Ryder)

Figure 9. The potter Fehim Javurdzija photographed at Demisevci, north-west Bosnia in 1989.
Figure 10. The potter Franjo Arbanas photographed at Kaluderovac, Croatia in 1991.

Figure 11. Cooking pots from Demisevci, Brezova Kosa and Kaluderovac.

Figure 12. Potter from the Jonti¢ family photographed at Vrginmost (now Gvozd), Croatia in 1990.

Figure 13. Pottery recovered from excavations at Pec¢igrad in 2002. [TO SUPPLY]
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